IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-153

JASON DIRK WALTON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL A. DUPREE Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-South

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director, CCRC-South

ROSEANNE ECKERT Asst. CCRC-South

Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel – South 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

COUNSEL FOR MR. WALTON

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Walton's motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" - record on direct appeal to this Court;

"RS" - resentencing record on direct appeal;

"PCR" & "PCR-2" -- records on prior 3.850 appeals to this Court;

"PCR-3" - record on first successive 3.851 appeal to this Court;

"PCR-4" - record on the instant appeal.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Walton has been sentenced to death. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Walton, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

INTRODUCTION

Jason Walton was deprived of a reliable sentencing proceeding due to the ineffective assistance of trial counsel at the penalty phase in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), the United States Supreme Court found this Court's prejudice analysis in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), to be "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. at 455. In *Porter v. State*, this Court conducted the following prejudice analysis:

At the conclusion of the postconviction evidentiary hearing in this case, the trial court had before it two conflicting expert opinions over the existence of mitigation. **Based upon our case law**, it was then for the trial court to resolve the conflict by the weight the trial court afforded one expert's opinion as compared to the other. The trial court did this and resolved the conflict by determining that the greatest weight was to be afforded the State's expert. We accept this finding by the trial court because it was based upon competent, substantial evidence.

Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d at 923 (emphasis added). The United States Supreme

Court rejected this analysis (and implicitly this Court's case law on which it was

premised) as an unreasonable application of *Strickland*:

The Florida Supreme Court's decision that Porter was not prejudiced by his counsel's failure to conduct a thorough-or even cursory-investigation is unreasonable. The Florida Supreme Court did not consider or unreasonably discounted mitigation adduced in the postconviction hearing.

* * *

Yet neither the postconviction trial court nor the Florida Supreme Court gave any consideration for the purpose of nonstatutory mitigation to Dr. Dee's testimony regarding the existence of a brain abnormality and cognitive defects. While the State's experts identified perceived problems with the tests that Dr. Dee used and the conclusions that he drew from them, it was not reasonable to discount entirely the effect his testimony might have had on the jury or the sentencing judge.

Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. at 454-55.

The *Porter* decision establishes that the previous denial of Mr. Walton's claims that he did not receive a reliable sentencing proceeding was premised upon this Court's case law misreading and misapplying *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Porter* represents a fundamental repudiation of **this** Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence, and as such *Porter* constitutes a change in state law as it has been routinely applied. Mr. Walton's *Porter* is claim cognizable in these postconviction proceedings. *See Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980).

In *Sears v. Upton*, 130 s. Ct. 3266 (2010), the United States Supreme Court expounded on its *Porter* analysis, finding that a Georgia postconviction court failed to apply the proper prejudice inquiry under *Strickland*. 130 S. Ct. at 3266. The Georgia state court "found itself unable to assess whether counsel's inadequate investigation might have prejudiced Sears" and unable to "speculate as to what the effect of additional evidence would have been" because "Sears' counsel did present some mitigation evidence during Sears' penalty phase." *Id.* at 3261. The United States Supreme Court found that "[a]lthough the court appears to have stated the proper prejudice standard, it did not correctly conceptualize how that standard applies to the circumstances of this case." *Id.* at 3264. The United States Supreme Court explained the state court's reasoning as follows:

Because Sears' counsel did present some mitigation evidence during his penalty phase, the court concluded that "[t]his case cannot be fairly compared with those where little or no mitigation evidence is presented and where a reasonable prediction of outcome can be made." The court explained that "it is impossible to know what effect [a different mitigation theory] would have had on [the jury]." "Because counsel put forth a reasonable theory with supporting evidence," the court reasoned, "[Sears] . . . failed to meet his burden of proving that there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome at trial would have been different if a different mitigation theory had been advanced.

Id.

After *Porter*, it is necessary to conduct a new analysis in this case, guided by *Porter* and compliant with *Strickland*. Because the United States Supreme Court has found this Court's prejudice analysis to be in error, Mr. Walton's claims that he was deprived of an individualized and reliable sentencing proceeding must be readdressed in the light of *Porter*. The judge and jury at Mr. Walton's resentencing

hearing "heard almost nothing that would humanize [him] or allow them to accurately gauge his moral culpability." *Id.* at 454. A truncated, cursory analysis of prejudice does not satisfy *Strickland*. In Mr. Walton's case, that is precisely the sort of analysis that was conducted. *Sears* teaches that postconviction courts must speculate as to the effect of non-presented evidence in order to make a *Strickland* prejudice determination not only when little or no mitigation evidence was presented at trial but in all instances. As *Sears* points to *Porter* as the recent articulation of *Strickland* prejudice correcting a misconception in state courts, the failure to conduct a probing, fact-specific prejudice analysis can be characterized as "*Porter* error."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Procedural History

Jason Dirk Walton was convicted of three counts of first-degree murder for his role in a Pinellas County triple-homicide, and on March 14, 1984, Circuit Court Judge William Walker, Sixth Judicial Circuit, imposed three death sentences. On appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions but vacated the death sentences because Mr. Walton was not afforded an opportunity to confront two co-defendants whose confessions and alleged statements were presented in the penalty phase. *Walton v. State*, 481 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1985). Mr. Walton's second penalty phase was conducted on August 12-14, 1986 and the jury recommended that death sentences be imposed by a vote of 9 to 3. On August 29, 1986, Circuit Court Judge Mark McGarry of the Sixth Judicial Circuit followed the jury's recommendation and imposed three separate death sentences. This Court denied relief on Mr. Walton's direct appeal following his resentencing. *Walton v. State*, 547 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1989) *cert. denied Walton v. Florida*, 110 S. Ct. 759 (1990). On September 24, 1990, Mr. Walton's petition for clemency was denied and a death warrant signed by Governor Bob Martinez. On October 24, 1990, this Court stayed his death warrant and ordered that postconviction motions be filed by December 15, 1990.

Mr. Walton filed his initial postconviction motion pursuant to Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 in 1990 and the trial court summarily denied all but two of the postconviction claims. Following a limited evidentiary hearing before Circuit Court Judge Brandt C. Downey III on February 25-26, 1991, relief was denied. An appeal was taken to this Court; jurisdiction was relinquished to the trial court for the resolution of Mr. Walton's public records requests before deciding the merits of the other issues raised. *Walton v. Dugger*, 634 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1993). On remand, Mr. Walton amended the 3.850 motion due to previously suppressed information that was revealed in the public records and additional evidence was adduced in the trial court on his claims. On January 11, 2001, the trial court again

denied all of Mr. Walton's claims. (PCR-2. 2477-2478). Mr. Walton again appealed to this Court; relief was denied. *Walton v. State*, 847 So. 2d 438 (2003).

Mr. Walton's subsequent state Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, filed in this Court pursuant to *Ring v. Arizona*, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002) in June of 2003, was denied on October 3, 2003. *Walton v. Crosby*, 859 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 2003).

Mr. Walton filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the United States District Court, Middle District of Florida on September 30, 2004. Then, on February 10, 2006, Mr. Walton filed a successive rule 3.851 motion in the circuit court containing claims based upon *Bradshaw v. Stumpf*, 125 S. Ct. 2398 (2005) due to the State's use of inconsistent and irreconcilable theories; newly discovered evidence concerning a jailhouse informant; a lethal injection claim; and a public records claim. The motion was later amended to include a claim based upon *Furman v. Georgia*, 408 U.S. 238, 310 (1972) (per curiam) and the American Bar Association report recommending a moratorium on executions in Florida.¹ All the claims were summarily denied without an evidentiary hearing. An appeal followed and this Court denied relief. *Walton v. State*, 3 So. 3d 1000 (Fla. 2009).

The federal district court dismissed Mr. Walton's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus as time-barred under the Anti-Terrorism and Effective Death

¹ Retroactive effect was not given to the decision in *Espinosa v. Florida*, 112 S. Ct. 2926 (1992).

Penalty Act (AEDPA) on November 2, 2010. The application for Certificate of Appealability is pending in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals.

On October 13, 2010, Mr. Walton filed his second successive motion for postconviction relief pursuant to 3.851 alleging that this Court failed to properly analyze prejudice based on clearly established federal law as set forth in *Porter v*. *McCollum* and *Strickland v*. *Washington*. (PCR-4. 1-30). A case management conference was held before Circuit Court Judge W. Douglas Baird on November 19, 2010. (PCR-4. 93-110). The circuit court entered an order denying relief on December 20, 2010. (PCR-4. 66-71). This appeal follows.

B. Trial and Resentencing.

Jason Dirk Walton was indicted in Pinellas County, Florida on March 2, 1983, with three counts of first-degree murder in the shooting deaths of Gary Peterson, Bobby Martindale, and Steven Fridella. (R. 1-2). The victims were found dead from shotgun wounds in 1982 but the crime went unsolved until Robin Fridella (Steven Fridella's wife) and another man contacted police. They had information that one of the men who shot the victims was co-defendant Terry Van Royal. Van Royal was subsequently arrested and gave information that led to the arrest of co-defendant Richard Cooper. It was a day later that Jason Walton and his younger brother, co-defendant Jeff McCoy, were arrested.

Jason Walton was tried and convicted in February 1984. (R. 2475-80). During the penalty phase, prosecutors Doug Crow and Allen Geesey introduced the written confessions of the actual killers (Richard Cooper and Terry Van Royal) in an effort to establish that Mr. Walton "ordered" the shootings. Assistant State Attorney Geesey presented the testimony of a regular jailhouse informant, Paul Skalnik, for the purpose of telling the jury what co-defendant Cooper had told him about Mr. Walton's alleged role in the crime. Cooper, who was housed in the same cell with Skalnik while awaiting trial, allegedly gave Skalnik information about Mr. Walton:

SKALNIK: Mr. Cooper stated that he had been talking to a man by the name of J.D. Walton who he classified as the ringleader of the four men . . . During this time of discussion with Richard Cooper, Mr. Cooper told me that J.D. Walton had told him they were going to eliminate them.

(R. 2555). Following the jury recommendation, Circuit Court Judge William Walker sentenced Jason Walton to death on March 14, 1984. (R. 2117). On direct appeal, this Court reversed the death sentences and remanded Mr. Walton's case for a new penalty phase because the introduction of Paul Skalnik's hearsay testimony violated *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123 (1968). *Walton v. State*, 481 So. 2d 1197, 1201 (Fla. 1985).

At the resentencing, Assistant State Attorney Crow came out of the gate pointing the finger at Jason Walton as the leader of the group: On June 18th, 1982, in the Highpoint area of Pinellas County, just a few yards away from this courthouse, Pinellas County Sheriff's Office was called to a scene of three terrible crimes. An eight-year-old boy just hours earlier . . . had called the hospital and then called the Clearwater Police Department with a frantic message, hysterically related that his daddy's dead. The three robbers had come and killed them and ransacked the house. Terrified, he was transferred to the Sheriff's Office, and deputies arrived.

And there were four people responsible. Richard Cooper, Terry Royal, Jeff McCoy, **teenagers had come down with this man, 25-year-old man at the time J.D. Walton** robbed and pillaged and murdered the three individuals. The evidence will show, and you will hear from Jeff McCoy, this man's younger brother who is serving a life sentence without parole for 25 years, as a result of being recruited by J.D. Walton in the crime....

. . .

And it was about two weeks before the murder that he began **recruiting his young friends** . . . He told them there will be drugs, there will be a lot of money, let's take guns and they did that. **Only one person had any information that there might be something there to steal and that was J.D. Walton.**

. . .

His gun misfired, and then following his lead Terry Royal and Richard Cooper opened fire resulting in the death of these three young men.

. . .

(RS. 493-496)(emphasis added) (State's opening argument).

The State presented evidence regarding the facts of the crime from the guilt phase in aggravation of the death sentence including Mr. Walton's pre-trial confession and a taped statement provided by his younger brother and co-defendant Jefferey McCoy. Additionally:

> Another state witness testified that Walton was experiencing problems in his relationship with the ex-wife of one of the victims and that Walton had once said that "the only way he could get [the victim] off his back was to waste him." The state presented a psychiatrist's testimony, indicating that the boy suffered a post-trauma stress reaction to the incident and that it would not be in the boy's best interest to appear in court and testify.

Walton v. State, 547 So. 2d 622, 623-24 (Fla. 1989).

At the resentencing hearing, defense counsel presented three witnesses on behalf of Mr. Walton: a co-worker, a childhood friend, and his mother. The direct examination of co-worker, Kimberly Ann Johnson, was approximately two pages, with one entire page of introductory questions (RS. 747-749). Mr. Walton's friend, Lynn Chamber, testified that she had known Mr. Walton for 13 years, but did not know that he was living with Robin Fridella or the people he hung out with (RS. 758-772). Carolyn Walton testified that her son was a good child and soldier and only smoked marijuana (RS. 774-781). The entire defense case took up 35 pages of transcript, with much of that including the State's cross-examination (RS. 746-781). No mental health professional testified on Jason Walton's behalf. After the defense presented that Mr. Walton had never been convicted of a crime, the State decided that it was necessary to rebut the mitigating evidence with two witnesses who testified that Jason Walton was involved in trafficking marijuana and theft. (RS. 783-94).

The jury was instructed that it "must" consider six aggravating circumstances and weigh them against the three mitigating circumstances conceded by the prosecuting attorney.² On August 29, 1986 the State provided the trial court with a memorandum in support of a death sentence. This memorandum contained a number of material "facts" that were never presented at the resentencing hearing. (RS. 150-162). The trial judge imposed a sentence of death. Subsequently, on October 16, 1986, the trial court entered written findings supporting the death sentence, adopting the State's memorandum including facts that are not in the record.

Jason Walton raised the following issues on direct appeal: (1) the trial judge erred by allowing the prosecution to present an expert psychiatrist to testify concerning the crime's impact upon the victim's eight-year-old son; (2) the trial judge erred in admitting evidence of Walton's actions after the homicides and

² On September 18, 1986, co-defendant Van Royal's conviction was affirmed but his death sentence overturned and a life sentence ordered by this Court based on the delay in entering written findings in support of death. *Van Royal v. State*, 497 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 1986). Jason Walton's jury never heard that the shooter received a life sentence.

alleged lack of remorse; (3) the trial court erred in permitting, as rebuttal to the statutory mitigating circumstance of no prior criminal history, evidence of Walton's alleged prior drug offense not resulting in convictions; (4) the prosecutor made improper remarks during closing argument; (5) the trial judge improperly instructed the jury concerning the aggravating circumstances; and (6) the trial judge erred by failing to find applicable mitigating factors and erroneously finding several of the aggravating factors. This Court held that the State's use of psychiatric testimony concerning the trauma to Steven Fridella's child who was found hiding and unhurt at the murder scene was harmless error. The death sentence was upheld. *Walton v. State*, 547 So. 2d 622, 624-25 (Fla. 1989).

C. Collateral proceedings.

In the initial motion for postconviction relief, Mr. Walton alleged, *inter alia*, that he was deprived of the effective assistance of counsel at the resentencing. At the evidentiary hearing in 1991, the witnesses included Bruce Jenkins, Dr. Pat Fleming, Dr. Faye Sultan, Irving McCoy II, Lydia Musheff and Kimberly Fox, and Carolyn Walton. Trial counsel also testified concerning his investigation and preparation.

Carolyn Walton (Jason Walton's mother) testified that Jason Walton was the product of an unhappy bitter marriage that ended in a divorce. When the children were told about the divorce at dinner one evening, it came as a complete shock to them. The divorce proceedings and child custody plans were the source of considerable pain for both Mr. Walton and his family (PCR. 315, 372-73). At the time, Jason Walton was named after his father, Irving McCoy III, and his mother unintentionally shunned him (PCR. 390). This resentment was apparent to Mr. Walton's siblings (PCR. 315). Mr. Walton's mother pressured him to change his name from McCoy to Walton (PCR. 346, 355).

Carolyn Walton's anger over her failed marriage and fear of raising children on her own led her into a marriage of convenience. Unfortunately, in her rush into marriage, Mrs. Walton failed to realize that her future husband, Porter Gates, was both an alcoholic and a prescription drug abuser (PCR. 374-76). Mr. Walton now had access to drugs and alcohol (PCR. 317-18, 374-76). Porter Gates was an unpleasant drunk. When he drank, he grabbed at women, including Mrs. Walton's daughters (PCR. 350). Mr. Walton witnessed much of this behavior. Mr. Gates encouraged Mr. Walton to drink and smoke pot and gave Mr. Walton the keys to the car, even though Mr. Walton was under the legal driving age at the time and had no license (PCR. 316-18). This marriage ended suddenly. One evening, Porter Gates sat in his favorite chair in the family room, drunk as usual, eating a steak dinner when he choked on a piece of meat (PCR. 318-19, 376-78). Jason Walton and his sister watched him choke, neither one of them knew what to do. They were

unable to be of any help. Mr. Gates never regained consciousness and died eight days later (PCR. 318-19).

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