IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JASON DIRK WALTON,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC11-153 L.T. No. CRC83-0630CFANO

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM DENIAL OF SECOND SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.851 MOTION THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_/

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

## The Trial Court's Order

In denying Walton's second successive motion to vacate, based on *Porter*, the trial court stated, in pertinent part:

The Court finds that the Defendant's motion is untimely, successive, and procedurally barred. Rule 3.851 (d)(1) requires that postconviction motions be filed within one year after the judgment and sentence become final. While rule 3.851(d)(2) provides several exceptions to this one-year time limitation, the Defendant has not alleged any grounds that would fall The only exception arguably relevant under that rule. to this motion is that contained in rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), which allows for successive motions beyond the one-year time limit if the successive fundamental motion alleges a newly established right that constitutional applies retroactively. However, the Defendant concedes that Porter does not create a retroactive fundamental right under rule 3.851 (d)(2)(B). Further, subsequent to Porter, no court has held that the case established a new fundamental constitutional right that is to be applied retroactively.

Despite acknowledging that Porter does not create a retroactive, fundamental constitutional right under rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), the Defendant, relying on Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d at 922, 925, argues that Porter represents a change in the law that is of sufficient magnitude to necessitate further review of his claim concerning ineffective assistance of counsel in regard to mitigating evidence. Essentially, he asks this Court to find, independent of rule 3.851(d)(2)(B), that *Porter* constitutes a retroactive, "fundamentally significant" change to constitutional law. Specifically, he asserts that *Porter* finds a systemic fault in the Florida Supreme Court's Strickland analysis, which in turn permits a re-examination of previously decided claims in his case. The Defendant also cites Delap v. Dugger, 513 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1987); and Demps v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. Those cases both refer to Thompson v. Dugger, 1987). 515 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 1987), in which the Florida Supreme Court allowed retroactive application of Hitchcock.

The requested relief is not available to the Defendant. First, this Court cannot provide the requested relief because this Court lacks authority to establish a new rule of constitutional import that is declared to be retroactive. Witt limits which courts can make such changes to the Florida Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court, as the Defendant acknowledges. Witt, 387 So. 2d at 931. Accordingly, this Court is not in a position to determine that Porter applies in the manner called for by the Defendant.

Moreover, the United States Supreme Court's opinion in Porter is merely the application of Strickland to the particular facts of that case and does not provide a basis for this court to reconsider the Defendant's postconviction claims. Unlike Witt or Hitchcock, Porter does not announce a new right or a change in the analysis used in determining constitutional law claims. The United States Supreme Court explained that *Porter* does not change the rather, analysis; Stricklard it represents an application of Strickland to the facts of Porter.

"To prevail under Strickland, Porter must show counsel's deficient that his performance prejudiced him. To establish deficiency, Porter show his "counsel's representation fell must below an objective standard of reasonableness." 466 U.S., at 688, 104 5. Ct. 2052. To establish prejudice, "must show that there he is а reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, unprofessional the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id., at 694, 104 S. Ct. 2052. Finally, Porter is entitled to relief only if the state court's rejection of his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel was "contrary to, or involved an unreasonable application of "Strickland, or it rested "on an unreasonable determination of the facts in light of the evidence presented in the State court proceeding." 28 U.S.C. § 2254(d).

Porter, 130 S. Ct. 447, 452 (2009) (emphasis added).

In addition, the Florida Supreme Court has recognized that Porter does not represent a change to the application of Strickland's ineffective assistance of counsel analysis. Everett v. State, 2010 WL 4007643 (Fla. Oct. 14, 2010) (Strickland does not "require a defendant to show 'that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome' of his penalty proceeding, but rather that he establish 'a probability sufficient to undermine the confidence in [that] outcome.'"); Schoenwetter v. State, 2010 WL 2605961 (Fla. July 1, 2010); Stewart v. State, 37 So. 3d 243, 247 (Fla. 2010); Rodriguez v. State, 39 So. 2d 275, 285 (Fla. 2010). The Defendant has failed to identify any decision holding that Porter is anything other than an application of the Strickland test.

The Supreme Court's decision in Porter does not represent a change in the Strickland analysis. Based upon the above-cited cases, it is clear that Porter does not represent a "fundamental repudiation of the Florida Supreme Court's Strickland v. Washington jurisprudence." Furthermore, the Defendant's successive rule 3.851 motion essentially reargues his previously denied claims of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel. Walton, 847 So. 2d at 455-459. Claims raised in prior postconviction proceedings cannot be relitigated in a successive postconviction motion unless the movant can demonstrate that the grounds for relief were not known and could not have been known at the time of the earlier proceeding. Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Defendant's claims Therefore, as the have been previously addressed, they are procedurally barred. Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004)

Finally, the Court notes that the relief requested by the Defendant in his motion would not serve to change his sentence. Specifically, the Defendant requests that the Court re-examine his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce mitigating evidence by conducting a new prejudice analysis under Strickland. However, the trial court found that counsel's performance was not deficient, and the Florida Supreme Court agreed with that assessment. Walton v. State, 847 So. 2d at 458 (Fla. 2003). In analyzing an ineffective assistance of counsel claim under Strickland, a trial court need not both prongs; if it determines that address the defendant has not met one of the prongs, the inquiry ends. Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So. 2d 927 (Fla. 1986). Because it previously was established that counsel was not deficient, the prejudice prong has no bearing on the Court's previous resolution of this claim.

(PCR-4, 1/68-70) (e.s.)

#### Analysis

The trial court correctly summarily denied Walton's second successive motion to vacate, based on *Porter*, because the motion was patently frivolous -- it was unauthorized, time-barred, successive, repetitive, procedurally barred and without merit. Because Walton did not identify any new constitutional right created by *Porter* nor allege that *Porter* has been held to apply retroactively by any court, his motion was facially insufficient, unauthorized and untimely.

Porter is merely the application of Strickland to the facts of Porter's case and does not provide any cognizable basis to relitigate Walton's IAC/penalty phase claim anew. Porter did not change the application of the ineffective assistance of counsel analysis under Strickland. Moreover, this Court has not been misapplying Strickland's standard of review - the standard of review announced in Stephens is expressly compelled by Strickland. In addition, even if Walton arguably could demonstrate that Porter represents both a "change in law" and satisfies the requirements for retroactivity under Witt, which the State emphatically disputes, Walton's attempt to relitigate

the prejudice prong is immaterial because this Court previously denied Walton's IAC/penalty phase claim - based on the alleged failure to adequately investigate mitigation - on the deficiency prong of *Strickland*.

#### Porter v. McCollum

In Porter v. McCollum, the state courts did not decide whether Porter's counsel was deficient under Strickland. As a result, the United States Supreme Court assessed the first prong of Porter's IAC/penalty phase claim de novo.<sup>4</sup> Porter, 130 S. Ct. at 452. The United States Supreme Court found that trial counsel failed to uncover and present any evidence of Porter's mental health or mental impairment, his family background, or his military service; and, "although Porter may have been fatalistic or uncooperative," that did not "obviate the need for defense counsel to conduct some sort of mitigation investigation." Porter, 130 S. Ct. at 453. The United States Supreme Court determined that trial counsel was deficient under the first prong of Strickland and emphasized that if Porter's counsel had been effective, the judge and jury would have learned of "(1) Porter's heroic military service in two of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> On federal habeas review, if the state court did not reach the merits of the petitioner's habeas claim, then "federal habeas review is not subject to the deferential standard that applies under AEDPA . . .," and instead, "the claim is reviewed *de novo.*" *Cone v. Bell*, 129 S. Ct. 1769, 1784 (2009).

most critical-and horrific-battles of the Korean War, (2) his struggles to regain normality upon his return from war, (3) his childhood history of physical abuse, and (4) his brain abnormality, difficulty reading and writing, and limited schooling." *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 454.

In addressing this Court's adjudication of the second prejudice - prong of Strickland, the United States Supreme Court reiterated that the test for prejudice is whether "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2068. And, "[t]o assess that probability, [the Court] consider[s] the totality of the available mitigation evidence - both that adduced at trial, and the evidence adduced in the habeas proceeding - and reweigh[s] it against the evidence in aggravation." Porter, 130 S. Ct. 447, 453-54 (quotation marks and brackets omitted). The United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's decision that Porter was not prejudiced by his counsel's failure to conduct a thorough - or even cursory - investigation was unreasonable because it "either did not consider or unreasonably discounted the mitigation evidence adduced in the postconviction hearing." Porter, 130 S. Ct. at 454-455. For example, the mental health evidence, which included Dr. Dee's testimony

regarding the existence of a brain abnormality and cognitive defects, was not considered in this Court's discussion of *nonstatutory* mitigation. *Porter*, 130 S. Ct. at 455, n. 7. In addition, the United States Supreme Court found that this Court unreasonably discounted evidence of Porter's childhood abuse and combat military service.<sup>5</sup>

No court has held that *Porter* established a new fundamental constitutional right that is to be applied retroactively. Instead, since *Porter* was decided, both this Court and the federal courts,<sup>6</sup> including the United States Supreme Court, have uniformly reinforced the application of *Strickland* to claims of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In Reed v. Sec'y, Fla. Dept. of Corr., 593 F. 3d 1217 (11th Cir. 2009), the Eleventh Circuit distinguished Porter on the basis of the "uniquely strong" mitigating nature of Porter's military service in combat. Reed, 593 F. 3d at 1249, n. 21 (noting ". . Paragraph after paragraph in the Porter opinion concerns Porter's combat experience in Korea, recounted in great detail. Id. at 449-51, 455. The diagnosis in Porter was post-traumatic stress disorder from combat, not antisocial personality disorder. Id. at 450 n. 4, 455 & n. 9. Porter's military service was critical to the holding in Porter . . .")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Porter is squarely based on Strickland. See, Porter, 130 S. Ct. at 452. This Court has recognized that Porter does not change the application of the ineffective assistance of counsel analysis under Strickland. See, Everett v. State, 54 So. 3d 464, 472 (Fla. 2010); Schoenwetter v. State, 46 So. 3d 535 (Fla. 2010); Stewart v. State, 37 So. 3d 243, 247 (Fla. 2010); Rodriguez v. State, 39 So. 3d 275, 285 (Fla. 2010); Troy v. State, 57 So. 3d 828, 836 (Fla. 2011); Franqui v. State, 2011 WL 31379, 8 (Fla. 2011). The Eleventh Circuit has also applied, and distinguished, Porter. See, Reed v. Sec'y, Fla. Dept. of Corr., 593 F. 3d 1217, 1243 n. 16, and 1246 (11th Cir. 2010); Boyd v. Allen, 592 F. 3d 1274, 1302 (11th Cir. 2010).

ineffective assistance of counsel. See, Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770 (2011); Premo v. Moore, 131 S. Ct. 733 (2011); Cullen v. Pinholster, 131 S. Ct. 1388 (2011); Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S. Ct. 1473 (2010); Renico v. Lett, 130 S. Ct. 1855 (2010); Sears v. Upton, 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010).

## Walton's second successive Rule 3.851 motion to vacate was timebarred and did not meet any exception under Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B)

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(d)(2)(B) requires any motion to vacate judgment of conviction and death sentence to be filed within one year after the judgment and sentence become final, unless the motion alleges that a fundamental constitutional right was established after that period <u>and</u> "has been held to apply retroactively." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B). Walton's successive Rule 3.851 motion failed to satisfy both of the prongs required for this exception.<sup>7</sup>

Walton's judgment and sentence became final on January 8, 1990, when his petition for writ of certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court. Walton v. Florida, 493 U.S. 1036, 110 S. Ct. 759 (1990); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(1)(B) (a judgment becomes final "on the disposition of the petition for writ of certiorari by the United States Supreme Court").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Walton does not assert any claim of newly discovered evidence based on *Porter*. In any event, this Court has rejected *Porter* as the basis for a newly discovered evidence claim. *Grossman v*. *State*, 29 So. 3d 1034, 1042 (Fla. 2010).

Walton's second successive Rule 3.851 motion to vacate, filed in 2010, was untimely filed -- by two decades.

Although the exception to the time limitation in 3.851(d)(2)(B) restarts the clock for а new fundamental constitutional right that has been held to apply retroactively, Porter is not a new right. The fundamental constitutional right at issue in Porter was the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel, a constitutional right that had been established decades before in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984). Porter was merely an application of the Strickland standard to a particular case. Walton has conceded that Porter did not establish a new fundamental constitutional right. (PCR-4 1/96; Initial Brief of Appellant at 34) and does not dispute that the right to the effective assistance of counsel has long been recognized. See, Strickland.

Walton's claim was untimely filed and procedurally barred did because Porter not recoqnize а new fundamental constitutional right that "has been held to apply retroactively." Moreover, as the trial court found and Walton admits, the trial court lacked the authority to establish a new

rule of constitutional dimension and declare it retroactive.<sup>8</sup> (PCR-4 1/15; *Initial Brief of Appellant* at 30). *Witt* limits which courts can make such changes to this Court and the United States Supreme Court. *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1980). Walton's second successive motion, which failed to meet any exception to the time limits of Rule 3.851, was unauthorized, facially insufficient and procedurally barred.

### Walton's claim is not cognizable under Witt and Rule 3.851

Applying Rule 3.851(d) to Walton's dual burden under Strickland, Walton must show that Porter established a new fundamental constitutional right on both prongs of Strickland and that this new right has been held to apply retroactively. Walton admits that Porter did not establish any new fundamental constitutional right at all. (PCR-4 1/96; Initial Brief of Appellant at 34). Instead, Walton argues that Porter marks a "fundamental repudiation of this Court's Strickland jurisprudence," and constitutes a "change in law" cognizable under Witt.

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